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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The First Baptist Church is housed in a brick sanctuary which was built between
1906 and 1910 on the site of its original 1830s frame church at the northwest
corner of Anderson and 0ld streets in downtown Fayetteville. The new church,
which houses a congregation organized in the antebellum period and influential
throughout the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, in local, regional, and
national denominational life, exhibits the medievally-inspired Romanesque
Revival style which was popularized for religious and commercial architecture
again around the turn-of-the-century. Although the trend was widespread
nationally, its presence is reflected in only two remaining examples in the city,
center, the Cape Fear and Yadkin Valley Railway Passenger Depot built in 1890,
and this church. Built during the prosperous years of the early twentieth
century and capturing the exuberance of that period, the church, which has been
expanded throughout the years, enjoys its landmark distinction as a
congregation which has been the sower of numerous other area Baptist churches.

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT

A. The Baptist denomination gained a firm foothold in Fayetteville with
establishment of the First Baptist Church in 1837; it joined churches of
other major denominations which earlier had been organized in the thriving

v commercial center.

B. Mr. James McDaniel who was knewn locally for his preaching and oratorical
abilities and was active in regional and state Baptist organizations, served
as an organizer and as the first pastor of the First Baptist Church.



HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The First Baptist Church of Fayetteville was constituted in 1837. It became the
third of that denomination to be established in Cumberland County.l A year
later, it joined the Cape Fear Association which had been in existence since
1805. The Baptist denomination in general was by that time firmly seated in
North Carolina as other regional associations and a state convention were
established by 1830.3

A downtown lot at the corner of Anderson and Old Streets was chosen for First
Baptist Church's building site. Charles McAllister conveyed lands there to
eleven church trustees in 1838.4 A frame building was erected soon after. It
had a three-bay front with a door on the lower level of each bay, five bay sides
with Colonial or Georgian compass windows, a gable roof, and a multi-level front
tower.? Men and women sat. separately in the sanctuary,6 and blacks sat in the
gallery. Later, a Sunday School building was built at its rear.

Mr. James McDaniel was instrumental in the founding of Fayetteville's First
Baptist Church and became its first pastor. He was a local man of Scottish
heritage who had been raised in the Presbyterian Church.8 After changing
denominations, he became an influential leader in Baptist organizations.
Besides pastoring the Fayetteville church from 1837 to 1844 and again from 1852
to 1869, 9 he was for many years the clerk of the Cape Fear Assoc1at10n as well
as president of the Baptist State Convention (1849 to 1867). 10 pagter McDaniel
had a reputation for being of high intelligence and for possessing extraordinary
oratory abilities.ll

The fledgling church was concerned with proper pastoral care, discipline,
financial matters, upkeep of the building and grounds, pulpit supply, missionary
endeavors, and organizational and denominational commitments. Their practices
were numerous and varied. TFor example, revivals were conducted for the
edification of communicants and the winning of converts. In the early 1850s
one revival was held from February to May. '"Brother" T.W. Tobey, editor of the
Biblical Recorder spoke during a three-week interval. His and otherg' efforts
resulted 1n a gain of eighty-four baptismal candidates.!3
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

All of lot 6, Block C, Map 78-2-3-4, Cross Creek Township, as outlined in red
on map. See map section.
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The next step that the congregation took was to baptize the candidates. A site
above a cotton mill on Cross Creek was selected, most likely the Cross Creek
flood plain known as "Eccles Pond" which the church overlooked. It had an
amphitheatre-like slope on the south side from which the large crowd of
spectators could view “the events taking place below. Brothers McDaniel and
Williams oversaw the numerous immersions in the waters of the creek. A ceremony
at the church followed, complete with candle-lighting, bell-ringing, singing,
praying, scripture-reading, speaking, formal greeting, and celebration of the
sacrament of the Lord's Supper. Following this, converts received instruction
and played an integral part in the life of the First Baptist Church.l4

Discipline was an important part of membership in the local Baptist Church. A
Vigilent Committee was formed to keep check on members' behavior and activities.
Rules forbade them to visit a circus or a theatre and kept them from dancing,
drinking "ardent spirits', uttering profanity, committing adultery, and visiting
"houses of i1l fame." Those who were not sufficiently repentent after
committing such acts would be "excluded, "1

As with many congregations, the Civil, War years were lean years. In its
aftermath, many church members were in financial straits and found it difficult
to support their pastors. At the First Baptist Church, Pastor McDaniel agreed
to continue preaching for whatever monetary support the congregation could
manage.

In subsequent years, the First Baptist Church prospered along with the
denomindtion as a whole. In 1888, under Dr. Oliver's pastorship, the church
building was renovated. Window treatment was altered and an extension was built
onto the Sunday School. The second of four pastoriums was also built about this
time.

The First Baptist Church supported or helped to establish other congregations
during its history, particularly in the post-1890 period. These include The
Baptist Church (colored), a mission in Massey Hill (1896), Second Baptist
(1912), Snyder Memorial Baptist (named for Dr. Joel S. Snyder, pastor of the

¥ " First Baptist Church from 1912 to 1941; organized 1949), and many others.18 1t
is the mother of Fayetteville Area Baptist Churches, as are First Presbyterian,
Hay Street Methodist, and others in tHeir respective denominations.

A milestone in the history of the church occurred in this century with the
dedication of a new brick edifice in 1910. It stood on the same site as the
early frame structure, which was demolished in 1906 to make room for the new.
It was built during the pastorship of J.J. Hall, at a time when other nearby
churches were experiencing growth and undertaking building programs.

The first visible step which the downtown Baptist congregation took to implement
their building program was to clear the Anderson/01ld Street cormer lot for
construction purposes. At this time, dwellings stood on either side of the
sanctuary lot, including their pastorium on the west and the First Presbyterian
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Church manse on the north.20 Sunday services were held temporarily at the Hay
Street Graded School building nearby until the Hobbs Memorial Sunday School
building was completed. Services were held there then, until the main sanctuary
was built and dedicated on 1 May 1910.21

The history of the RomanesqueRevival structure does not stop with its dedication.
Just sixteen years later, renovations were undertaken and construction was begun
on a new Sunday School building, the Burgess Building. In the 1940s, the
sanctuary itself was extended and a balcony created. General refurbishments
were also carried out, all under the pastorship of Dr. Perry Crouch. One of the
ambitious physical undertakings was the building of Williamson Hall on the north
side of the sanctuary. It was completed in the mid-1950s and houses classrooms,
offices, a kitchen, and a spacious fellowship hall/gymnas:i.um.22

Since then, only minor changes to the physical facility have been undertaken.
The Gaines Memorial Library--named for Rev. Gaines who was pastor from 1944 to
1963, during the years that Williamson Hall was erected--was established in a’
location much more accessible than the old. The First Baptist Church endeavors
to undertake a full range of programs, from Sunday School to an athletic Erogram
and day care, in the spacious facilities it has developed over the years.2



NPS Form 10-900-8 OMB No. 1024-0018
G-82) Exp. 10-31-84
United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

First Baptist Church Significance/
Historical
> P nbgvnunﬂ

Continuation sheet ltem number 8

Reference Notes:

1M,A. Huggins, A History of the North Carolina Baptists 1727-1932 (Raleigh:

The General Board, Baptist State Convention of North Carolina, 1967),

information compiled from Appendix B "Churches established 1830-1859", 402, 419,
421, hereinafter cited as Huggins, North Carolina Baptists.,

2Huggins, North Carolina Baptists, 125.

3Huggins, North Carolina Baptists, 106, 108, 112, 116, 122, 137 and others;
also 125.

4Charles McAllister to the Baptist Church, 29 September 1838, Cumberland
County Deeds, Office of the Register of Deeds, Cumberland County Courthouse,
Fayetteville; Book 42, Page 430.

5Documentary photograph contained in survey file marked First Baptist
Church, Survey and Planning Branch, Archaeology and Historic Preservation
Section, Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina, 27611.

6Typewritten exerpts from David S. Williams, Diary, Z. Smith Reynolds
Library, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, hereinafter
cited as Williams Diary.

TLou Rogers Wehlitz, "History of the First Baptist Church, Fayetteville,
N.C., 1837-1973"; unpublished report in survey file marked First Baptist Church,
Survey and Planning Branch, Archaeology and Historic Preservation Section,
Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina, 27611, 4, hereinafter
cited as Wehlitz, "First Baptist Church."

8Williams Diary, 6.
Yehlitz, "First Baptist Church", 15.

1OHuggins, North Carolina Baptists, 127, 228.

‘
11Huggins, North Carolina Baptists, 229.

12Gleaned from Church Minute Book, 1848-1870, housed in the vault at the
First Baptist Church, Anderson and 0ld Streets, Fayetteville, North Carolina,
28301, hereinafter cited as Church Minutes.

13yilliams Diary.

l4yilliams Diary.
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15Church Minutes, 1848-1870, 4,6,8.

16church ‘Minutes, 184.

17Wehlitz, "First Baptist Church', 7.

‘18Weh1itz, "First Baptist Church", 14.

19Weh1itz, "First Baptist Church', 8-9.

20711ustration: 1901 and 1908 Sanborn Maps for Fayetteville, North

Carolina, Paper copies from the North Carolina Collection, Wilson Library, The
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, North Carolina;
supporting text: Wehlitz, "First Baptist Church", 7, 1l.

21Wehlitz, "First Baptist Church", 8-9.

22yehlitz, "First Baptist Church", 9, 11-12.

23yehlitz, "First Baptist Church", 12-13.
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Cumberland County Records: Deeds.

Fayetteville,JNorth Carolina. First Baptist Church Vault. 200 01ld Street.
"Church Minute Book 1848-1870." ‘

Huggins, M. A. A History of the North Carolina Baptists 1727-1932.
Raleigh: The General Board, Baptist State Convention of North Carolina,

1967.

Raleigh, North Carolina. Division of Archives and History. Archaeology and
Historic Preservation Section. Survey and Planning Branch. Lou Rogers
Wehlitz, "History of the First Baptist Church, Fayetteville, N.C.,
1837-1937." Copy in file marked, "First Baptist Church."

Sanborn Insurénce Maps for Fayetteville, North Carolina: 1901, 1908. .

Winston-Salem, North Carolina. Wake Forest University. Z. Smith Reynolds
Library. David 8. Williams, 'Diary."






